Table of Cases

I was not able to locate cases which directly apply to the causes I

am addressing in this brief. As I am not educated in the ways of the

legal profession I am unaware of how to search for such

information. However, I fail to see the need to refer to other cases

as I am merely seeking to have my rights and liberties restored.

Constitutional Provisions

1St Amendment- Free Exercise:

Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of

religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or abridging the

freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the people

peaceably to assemble, and to petition the government for a

redress of grievances.

I.  Introduction

I ask this court for some leniency in regards to this brief as I am not

a lawyer by trade and so am unfamiliar with the preparations of

court documents and proper legalese.  I am however an educated

man and a survivor of a chronic health condition since I was 15

years old.  For the past 31 years I have lived with Type 1 Diabetes.

The control of diabetes is a constant, day to day, struggle to

maintain a normal blood sugar by injecting insulin and balancing

insulin with food.  This can be very difficult at times, especially in

times of stress, such as the situation I am here defending.

I am appealing this Order of Protection ( OP) placed upon my

person.  I believe my rights have been violated by the City of

Tumwater and Thurston County at the direction of Ms. Rietema and

continue to be violated by the arbitrary and capricious use and

continuation of the OP.  I am requesting this court of appeal to

vacate this OP, expunge my record, and punish those responsible

for violating my rights and liberties.  These rights and liberties are

secured by the Constitution of the United States and the Bill of

Rights.

My primary goal is to get this unfortunate part of my life behind me

with my rights and liberties restored.  I now see my time spent and
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the marriage to Ms. Rietema as a mistake.  I want to go on with my

life as I was before she entered it.  However, this OP is an insult to

my good character and name and to the very ideals of freedom and

liberty that this country was founded upon.  I understand the

responsibility of living in a free society and do not require special

restraints to leave people alone who want nothing to do with me.

However, Ms. Rietema is now on the offensive, attacking me, with

the courts assistance, due solely to the exercising of my

Constitutional rights.



II. Assignments of Error

1.  The court erred in entering a guilty order for violating the OP on

August 30, 2014.

2.   Officer Yancey and the Tumwater Police Department erred in the

filing of and Judge James Dixon and Prosecutor Luke Hansen for

approving the search warrant on December 26th, 2012.

3.  The Nisqually Jail violated the Americans with Disabilities Act

during my incarceration by limiting my access to my blood sugar

tester.

4.  Commissioner Jonathon Lack erred in entering the order of

September 12, 2014 by denying my motion to vacate the Order of

Protection

5.  Judge Chris Wickham erred in his judgment to not revise and by

awarding costs to Ms. Rietema on October 17th, 2014.
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Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

I was found guilty of going within 500 feet of Ms. Rietema' s

workplace.  This was only due to Ms. Rietema being able to add

additional places of work to the order after the fact.  How can it be

lawful for Ms. Rietema, or the state, to change the details of the OP

after the fact?  Especially if those changes to the OP are what led

to guilty charges!  (Assignment of error 1)

A search warrant for my house was granted due to some flyers

that had been sent to people who were not listed on the OP.  The

primary reasons given for the need to search my house were that

these documents resembled the document from June of 2012.

However, Luke Hansen was the prosecutor who dropped

harassment charges due to the first document as it had not

violated the OP, or any law.  How is it reasonable to use

documents that do not violate the OP, or any law, and that were

sent to addresses and people not listed on the OP, as a reason

for searching my home?  Doesn' t this violate my 4th Amendment

Rights which protect me from unreasonable search and seizure?

Assignment of error 2)

Upon being booked into Nisqually Jail I was placed in solitary
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confinement and allowed to have some food in my cell and keep

my insulin pump on, and attached.  I was not allowed to have my

blood sugar tester with me.  The Correction Officers ( CO) were

often very busy and, at times, I had to wait for up to 40 minutes

before the CO could bring my tester and allow me to test my blood

sugar.  A blood sugar tester is vital to the maintenance of Type 1

Diabetes, stable blood sugars, and keeping me alive.  It is a direct

violation of the ADA to not make accommodations for me to care

for my disease.  As no accommodations were made to allow me

immediate access to my tester didn' t the Nisqually Jail violate the

ADA by not allowing me to properly care for my disease?

Assignment of error 3)

In August of 2014 Commissioner Lack made his judgment after an

obvious emotional response to reading two flyers Ms. Rietema

presented as evidence.  The first flyer contained no threats of

harm to anyone on the OP and had already been the subject of

criminal proceedings against me and found to not contain any

criminal element.  In regards to the second flyer, there was no

evidence to suggest any connection to me even after a search

and seizure, at gunpoint, on my home.  Commissioner Lack was

so emotionally affected by the flyers he used them against me and

had them sealed.  Is it reasonable for Lack to allow any document
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of unknown origin to be used against me?  Is Ms. Rietema

allowed to use any created document and attribute its contents to

me?  How is this reasonable?  (Assignment of error 4)

In her renewal for the OP in August of 2014 Ms. Rietema stated

that she is afraid of the OP ending.  Then Ms. Rietema blatantly

contradicts herself in her testimony during Lack' s court by

claiming that her fear has been continuous since the issuance of

the OP.  Is Ms. Rietema' s fear due to the OP ending or has her

fear been continuous and prevented her from " living and providing

for her family"?  Does Ms. Rietema get to say whatever works

best at the time to forward her agenda?  (Assignment of error 4)

I was told in Lack' s court that I did not meet the burden of proof

that I would not resume acts of violence.  There had been no

contact of any sort in over 2 years and yet I was still expected to

prove that nothing would continue to happen.  How does one

prove a negative?  My counsel, Emily Laz, did attempt to argue

this very point in Lack's court, only to be unsuccessful.  Is it

reasonable to even try and prove a negative?  What would

constitute appropriate proof that nothing would continue to

happen?  How is it reasonable to place this very unreasonable

burden of proof upon me? ( Assignment of error 4)
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Judge Wickham stated that I had not offered proof of completion

of domestic violence treatment counseling due to not providing a

certificate of completion.  I had previously presented proof to Lack

and he made statements to the fact of me completing, and

learning from, the domestic violence treatment counseling.  How

is it reasonable for Wickham to not know this information or to not

read it in the record?  Additionally, WAC 388-60- 0275 states no

requirement for a " certificate of completion".  How is it reasonable

for Wickham to make up a rule that doesn' t exist and then use it to

rule against me?  Is this an abuse of his power?  (Assignment of

error 5)

Wickham also stated there was evidence that Ms. Rietema had

not been contacted by the domestic violence treatment counselor.

However, the courts had documented evidence of the required

information.  Darlene of Awareness Counseling, a state approved

domestic violence counseling center had met all provisions in

WAC 388- 60-0275.  Darlene had made multiple attempts to

communicate with Ms. Rietema and had, apparently, left

messages.  It seems Ms. Rietema never responded to Darlene.

How is it reasonable to hold me responsible for Ms. Rietema' s

actions or lack of action, in this instance?  (Assignment of error 5)



Ill.     STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1)  On June 13th, 2012 ( CP page 236, TPD # C21048

6/ 14/2012) I was arrested at my place of employment, the

Department of Ecology.  I was transported and booked into

Nisqually Jail.  The Americans with Disabilities Act suggests

I should have allowed me full access to my blood sugar

tester. However, Nisqually jail placed me in solitary

confinement and only allowed me limited access to my blood

sugar tester. At that time I wore an insulin pump that

contained fast acting insulin, I should have been afforded

constant access to my tester.  I was not.  At times I had to

wait 30-40 minutes before being able to test a blood sugar.

Due to the fast acting insulin contained in the pump this put

me in a very dangerous, life threatening, situation.  Even the

doctor I met upon booking told me the jail was not designed

to handle someone with type 1 diabetes.  With type 1

diabetes it is even harder to maintain a healthy blood sugar

when in stressful situations, such as being locked up in a

solitary cell for four consecutive days.  Only one hour during

that entire time did I get to walk out in the fenced yard of the

jail.  This seemed to be a very cruel and unusual punishment

considering I had only used words!  This time in the

Nisqually jail happened before I had even gone to court.

II



2)  I was in Tumwater municipal court on August 30th, 2012.  I

was charged with 2 counts of harassment and 2 counts of

violating the OP.  The OP clearly states I am to stay 500 feet

away from Ms. Rietema' s " workplace"! (CP page 199, " 4"

Final Order of Protection 3- 2- 2012)  Her workplace at that

time was, by her own admission in her statement to the

police on June 11th, in Lacey Washington.  However, Ms.

Rietema was able to convince the police she had a second

place of work. My lawyer, Tricia Hahn, never debated this

point of contention, even though I had mentioned it to her.  In

her statement to the police she also indicated she works in

all jails and prisons in the NW district due to being on the

Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM) team. ( CP page

195, TPD 12- 1280- 06)

3) There were 2 charges of harassment filed against me due to

the content of the flyers posted. ( CP page 183, TPD 12-

1280-06) Both were dropped when my lawyer pointed out to

the prosecutor that the flyers contained no threat of harm to

anyone on the OP.  At the time I recall thinking that if I could

stop one person from falling into her trap and suffering the

abuse that I had suffered, by Ms. Rietema, it would be worth

the effort. Never once did I attempt to violate the OP, nor do

I believe I was violating it.  I stayed far away from the areas I
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was supposed to avoid.  I was hurt and in emotional turmoil

due to stress and abuse and wanted others to know what

Ms. Rietema had done to me.  It seemed to me, at the time,

my only recourse was to use my words, express myself,

something I believe I have a right to do even still!

4) I was coerced to plead guilty to violating the OP even though

I knew I had not violated it. Due to the emotional content of

the flyer my lawyer did not think a jury would rule in my

favor. (CP page 188, TPD 12- 1280- 06)The prosecutor, Luke

Hansen, seemed clearly disgusted by what he read in the

flyers as well.  Even though the harassment charges were

dropped he still offered to read the flyer to the judge,

seemingly as a means to win this court case and cast

aspersions on me.  When emotions are running high people

tend to not think rationally.  I was concerned a jury would

rule against me due to the emotional content of the flyer.  As

it turned out, later on even the Commissioner and Judge had

emotional responses to the flyer.  I require someone to rule

this without letting emotions get in the way as the flyer

contains no threats to anyone listed on the OP.

5) I understand now that I should have appealed that ruling at

the time.  My counsel did not mention appeal to me and I did

not have the knowledge to do so for myself at the time.
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6) On December 27th, 2012 the police showed up my door, with

guns pointed at me, to search my home.  They did have a

search warrant approved by prosecutor Luke Hansen

39071) and Judge James J Dixon.  However, the probable

cause Officer Yancey (#0565) claimed did not meet the

requirements of violating the OP.  Based on the statements

of witnesses and the officers report, some documents were

mailed to people not listed on the OP, which were then

delivered to Ms. Rietema.  The documents contained no

threats of harm or violence to anyone listed on the OP, nor

did the documents attempt any communication with anyone

listed on the OP.  However, they were still used against me

as evidence of violating the OP, so much so they were able

to obtain a warrant to search, at gunpoint, and seize my

property.  The charges were of stalking and violating the OP

even though nothing of the sort had happened by their own

admission.  Nothing in Officer Yancey' s statement directly

violated the OP.  In fact the only violation was Officer

Yancey's statement that I had violated the OP. ( CP pages

219- 224, Search Warrant and TPD 2012-02763)

7) On February 22nd, 2013 I was summoned to court again.  Ms.

Rietema wanted to extend the OP.  She acted as though she

was not aware that the OP had been continued until August



30, 2014.  In that proceeding she first asked for a 99 year

continuation of the OP, an unreasonable request.  I had

never harmed her or her children or even threatened to harm

her or her children. She even cited a case pending,

regarding the search warrant, that the police were had no

evidence of my involvement in.  As the OP was still in effect

until August 30, 214, this amounted to a waste of mine and

the courts time. ( CP page 23, Petition for Renewal

2/ 1/ 2013)

8) On September 12, 2014 I was in court once again before

Commissioner Jonathon Lack. Ms. Rietema, again, asked

for a 99 year extension of the OP. ( CP page 33, Petition for

Renewal of OP 8/ 7/ 2014) I hired a lawyer, Ms. Emily Laz,

thinking that would be enough to win this case and get on

with my life by vacating the OP.  I believe Ms. Laz made an

adequate argument for why the OP should be vacated.  I

had not had any contact with Ms. Rietema or her children for

over 2 years and just wanted this over, to move on with my

life.  I had done everything the courts had ordered, even

completed a yearlong domestic violence treatment program,

EX 1) even though I felt as though I was innocent.  I could

not believe a court would allow Ms. Rietema a continuation

based on the limited amount of evidence she possessed and



the fact I had done what the courts ordered, that I never

harmed or threatened to harm anyone listed on the OP and

had not violated the OP in any way.

9) Commissioner Lack seemed to think the flyers were so bad

he had them sealed. These flyers had been seen by a

criminal court who did not feel the need to seal them. They

were also seen by the Commissioner on February 22 and

not considered worth sealing from the public. (RP on

9/ 12/ 2014, page 27, line 6)

10) On October 17th, 2014 I was in Judge Chris Wickham' s

court on a motion to revise Commissioner Lack's decision.

There was no question about my completion of the domestic

violence treatment program in Lack' s court but that was all

Wickham seemed to focus on.  He stated that no certificate

of completion was submitted to prove I had completed the

program. ( RP 10/ 17/ 14, page 12, lines 3- 7).

11) Wickham also suggested there was evidence that Ms.

Rietema had not been contacted by the domestic violence

treatment counselor.  However, the documents presented

EX 1) were the same ones sent to the courts in November

of 2013 signifying that Darlene did indeed attempt to contact

Ms. Rietema. ( RP 10/ 17/ 14, page 12, lines 7- 9)

12) At no time during the filing of our divorce or at the time I

1



hired Emily Laz to defend me in court did I ever ask for

money from Ms. Rietema. I had every right, both times to

ask for some form of payment: either by taking half of Ms.

Rietema' s estate, which was much larger than mine, or by

asking for court fees. This was to avoid causing her

unnecessary hurt. To me, taking money from another, even

if by legal means and well within my right, means harming

another. As I stated before I never wanted to harm her, so

never tried to take money for her. You will notice, though that

Ms. Rietema sees this issue differently and asked for court

costs from Wickham. ( RP 10/ 17/2014, page 9, lines 5- 7)
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IV.    SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In the last few years due to Ms. Rietema, Tumwater Police,

Thurston County Courts, and the Nisqually jail I have suffered the

following harms due to Ms. Rietema:

A)  I have been arrested and incarcerated for four days in

solitary, to the detriment of my health and well- being and

missed time with my daughter.

B)  I have had police show up at my door pointing guns at me

to search and seize my property.

C)  I have been unable to properly protect myself and my

family in my own home due to restrictions of my
2nd

Amendment rights.

D)  I am forced to find alternate routes around Lacey and

Tumwater due to the locations of Ms. Rietema' s multiple

places of work.

E)  The OP impacts my ability to work.

F)  I have repeatedly lost in court even though no evidence

exists to suggest I am a dangerous person, suggesting my

rights are not important and that I am not getting equal

treatment under the law.

And even though I have ample evidence of these harms done to

me I am the one with the word " violent" attached to my name and
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record due to all this.  How is it reasonable to continue to accuse

and punish me for being dangerous when clearly Ms. Rietema has

been a larger danger to me?  Does Ms. Rietema have proof of any

harm done to her person other than some embarrassment due to

posted flyers, flyers which describe the acts she has done against

me?  How is it reasonable to punish me more for telling others what

she did to me than for what she actually did?  Is that public

embarrassment a crime and a valid reason to remove my rights and

liberties?  Even if it was merely an expression of my experience

with Ms. Rietema, what she did to me?

I am now in the position of trying to defend myself, to prove to this

court of appeal that I am not the person, or kind of person who

would hurt others, she believes me to be.  Then only way I can

figure out how to do this is to show examples of how Ms. Rietema

contradicts herself, how her story of fear just doesn' t make sense,

and how she is being unreasonable.  I believe there is ample

evidence to suggest Ms. Rietema' s motives are other than

protecting herself.  I believe this is a vendetta, another form of

punishment she can continue to inflict upon me, her way of

maintaining a modicum of control, as those who emotionally abuse

are known to do.
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The very fact that I am here now, appealing these decisions is also

proof that I have not received equal protection under the law.

Along the way it seems Ms. Rietema has received a lot of

professional courtesy.  As a DOC employee she works closely with

law enforcement and the courts.  As such, I have not been given

consideration for my pleas.  My testimony appears to not matter to

the courts nor do they seem concerned with my rights and liberties.

It is unreasonable that these courts, charged with protecting rights

and liberties, seem more concerned with Ms. Rietema' s emotional

state than my rights and liberties.

0



V.     ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT 1: The flyers in question were placed farther away

than 500 feet from Ms. Rietema' s workplace in Lacey and yet I was

still arrested and charged for going to close to her workplace.  On

the final page of the Tumwater Police report 12- 1280- 06 Ms.

Rietema clearly admits her primary workplace is located in Lacey.

CP page 195, TPD 12- 1280- 06) She then claims to also work in

Tumwater and even implies she works all over the state as a

Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM) team member.  Is Ms.

Rietema suggesting that I am unable to go to any jail or prison in

the state for fear of violating the OP?  This, among other things,

has not been made clear to me. This is the first demonstration of

how the OP is a vague document that has been used in an arbitrary

fashion against me.  How is this reasonable?  Why, when she

added multiple places of work, did not the case end there?  Do the

Tumwater police and prosecutor not know what the OP states?

That it clearly states I am to avoid her "workplace", a singular place.

A reasonable person would know that Tumwater and Lacey are two

distinct places.  If the legal definition of" workplace", a singular

word, is to include multiple locations, a plural, then why was I not

provided a list of all the places I need to avoid?  And to that point,

why is Ms. Rietema allowed to add places I should avoid after the

fact without the responsibility of first alerting me to these places that
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are to be avoided?  Additionally, in her statements to Lack's court

she minimizes the burden this has on my work.  But there are also

underground tanks at the Lewis County Jail and the Mason County

Jail. Is it another violation of the OP if I am to go to these places to

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