No. 46884-1-II (47110-8-II) Thurston County Superior Court No. 12-2-30114-7

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

BETH RENEE RIETEMA, Respondent,

٧.

DEAN ERVIN PHILLIPS, Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY FAMILY AND JUVENILE COURT

The Honorable Christopher Wickham, Judge

RESPONSE BRIEF

KATE M. FORREST Attorney for Respondent Pioneer Building Suite 106 600 First Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 973-7953

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

ARGUMENT

I. DIRECT APPEAL

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR DOMESTIC VIOLENCE PROTECTION ORDER IS ABUSE OF DISCRETION

Whether to grant, modify, or terminate a protection order is a matter of judicial discretion. <u>In re Marriage of Freeman</u>, 169 Wn.2d 664, 671, 239 P.3d 557 (2010).

Where the decision or order of the trial court is a matter of discretion, it will not be disturbed on review except on a clear showing of abuse of discretion, that is, discretion manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons. <u>Id.</u> at 671, quoting <u>State ex rel. Carroll v.</u> <u>Junker</u>, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).

A court's decision is based on untenable grounds or reasons "if its factual findings are unsupported by the record." In re Marriage of Wicklund, 84 Wn.App. 763, 770 fn 1, 932 P.2d 652 (1996), citing State v. Rundquist, 79 Wn.App. 786, 905 P.2d 922 (1995). A trial court's factual findings are accepted on appeal if "supported by substantial evidence in the record." In re Marriage of Thomas, 63 Wn. App. 658, 660, 821 P.2d 1227 (1991). Evidence is substantial if it would "persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of that determination." In re Marriage of Spreen, 107 Wn.App. 341, 346, 28 P.3d 769 (2001). A court is not unreasonable in its discretion so long as its decision is not "outside the range of acceptable choices given the facts and the legal standard." Wicklund, supra, at fn1.

B. THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN AFFIRMING THE RENEWAL OF THE LONG-TERM DOMESTIC VIOLENCE PROTECTION ORDER

RCW 26.50.060(3) directs that a court "shall grant the

petition for renewal unless the respondent proves by a

preponderance of the evidence that the respondent will not resume

acts of domestic violence" if the order is allowed to expire.

Commissioner Lack carefully considered the testimony of both

parties and made a balanced and well-reasoned analysis:

So I do appreciate that Mr. Phillips has essentially completed a domestic violence batterer's intervention program. It appears that he has taken that requirement seriously and he has completed it and he has learned some things from it. The dilemma that I have in this matter is that Mr. Phillips' current position is still a little bit self-centered. The explanation for these quite horrific flyers is not I've learned from my batterer's intervention program and these are horrible things to do and I can't believe I did them and they would never happen again. His explanation is that I posted them and I didn't really know that that's where she worked, which shows a lack of insight. RP for 9/12/14 at p23-24.

The court was aware of the burden shifting to the respondent upon

petition for renewal, and was not persuaded:

I do know that in the last we will call it 18 months or almost two years I guess really at this point that Mr. Phillips essentially has been in compliance with the order, but the significance of the violations of the protective order after they were issued is so severe that I do believe that Ms. Rietema has an ongoing fear that Mr. Phillips has not proven that there is a likelihood of non-recurrence. I am very concerned that there is a potential for recurrence based on the testimony that I have heard today, and I am going to reissue the order. RP for 9/12/14 at p25.

The Court of Appeals has consistently held that a present fear of harm based on past violence or threats is the correct standard for issuance or renewal of DVPO. <u>Spence v. Kaminski</u>, 103 Wn. App. 325, 334, 12 P.3d 1030 (2000); <u>Muma v. Muma</u>, 115 Wn. App. 1, 6-7, 60 P.3d 592 (2002); <u>Barber v. Barber</u> 136 Wn. App. 512, 516, 150 P.3d 124 (2007). When Judge Wickham ruled that "the Commissioner got the right result," RP for 10/17/14 at p14, the court adopted these findings as its own. <u>State ex rel. J.V.G. v. Van</u> Guilder, 137 Wn.App. 417, 423, 154 P.3d 243 (2007).

Upon finding that renewal is appropriate, "The court may renew the protection order for another fixed time period or may enter a permanent order." RCW 26.50.060(3). Because the commissioner found the flyer posted at the child's bus stop "exponentially concerning," RP for 9/12/14 at p25, extending the order until Rietema's youngest child finishes high school was within "the range of acceptable choices given the facts and the legal standard." In re Marriage of Wicklund, supra, 84 Wn.App. at 770 footnote 1.

C. COMPLETION OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE TREATMENT IS NOT DISPOSITIVE AS TO THE PERPETRATOR'S LIKELIHOOD OF RESUMING ACTS OF VIOLENCE

Phillips alleges that on revision, the court erred in renewing the DVPO because he focused on the absence of proof of his completion of treatment, which Phillips provides in Exhibit L of his PRP. However, nowhere in the statute is it stated or even implied that completing treatment creates a presumption that a perpetrator will not resume acts of domestic violence. Judge Wickham's statement that there was a burden on Phillips to prove that he successfully completed treatment, RP for 10/17/14 at p13, even if incorrect, does not undermine the ultimate determination. "An appellate court can sustain a trial court judgment on any theory established by the pleadings and proof, even if the trial court did not consider it." Weiss v. Glemp, 127 Wn.2d 726, 730, 903 P.2d 455 (1995). Judge Wickham went on to cite the flyers as weighing against Phillips' claims that he does not pose an ongoing risk (Id. at p14), which, along with Rietema's testimony, provided sufficient independent grounds for finding Phillips did not meet the burden that is set forth in the statute.

In the portion of his PRP titled "2nd Ground for Relief" Phillips argues that the court erred in its belief that there was a requirement of a certificate, citing WAC 388-60-0275 for the assertion that no certificate was required. However, it was not the absence of a certificate that concerned the court, but rather the apparent lack of insight gained as to the wrongful nature of his behavior. (See RP for 9/12/14 at p23-24, quoted above.)

RCW 26.50.150(4) requires that in addition to ending violence, treatment must focus on "holding the perpetrator accountable...and changing his or her behavior," and "must be based on nonvictim-blaming strategies." Additionally, his Domestic Violence Compliance Report contains this statement: "If client uses the techniques learned in group he/she should remain safe." Exhibit L to PRP. Phillips demonstrated repeatedly in court testimony and in his written submissions that he has not retained any lessons that would have been imparted by successful treatment.

At times he refuses to accept any responsibility for his behavior. For example, in his declaration in response to Rietema's petition for renewal, Phillips claimed that his actions "that evening were out of character and likely influenced by blood sugar issues

complicated by extreme stress from emotional abuse." CP at p90. More often he blames the victim, stating in oral argument, "I was treated very poorly by her and that was what caused these flyers to be put out there." RP for 10/17/14 at p5. Most disturbing and antithetical to accountability is his denial of the original violence. Phillips claims, "the only evidence Ms. Rietema has is her testimony of that 'brutal' evening, as she calls it but has no evidence to support this supposed brutality" and that he "had committed no acts of violence to begin with." Brief of Appellant at pp7-8.

Whether or not Phillips completed the treatment required by the criminal court is ultimately irrelevant to the question the Superior Court was charged with answering, which was whether Phillips had demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that he would not resume acts of domestic violence if the order expired.

Research indicates that batterers change due to a series of experiences that communicate that they are both responsible for their abusive conduct and for changing that behavior. It is not treatment alone that is changing batterers, but treatment embedded in a system of accountability that includes law enforcement, criminal prosecution, adjudicated sanctions, and close court monitoring by a system such as probation for criminal court issues or by a court review process for civil court issues. <u>DV Manual for Judges</u>, Washington State Administrative Office of the Courts (2006), at Appendix A-2. Neither the commissioner nor the judge, charged with maintaining the integrity of this system of accountability, found Phillips' arguments compelling. The appellate court must "defer to the trial court's determinations on the persuasiveness of the evidence, witness credibility, and conflicting testimony." <u>Snyder v. Haynes</u>, 152 Wn.App. 774, 779, 217 P.3d 787 (2009).

If there were any room for doubt as to the reasonableness of the conclusions coming from the commissioner and judge of the superior court, Phillips' opening brief in the direct appeal and his PRP remove that doubt. Phillips repeatedly asserts that his actions were justified and again attempts to shift blame to Rietema. He states that he believes the DVPO "is a vendetta, another form of punishment she can continue to inflict upon me, her way of maintaining a modicum of control, as those who emotionally abuse are known to do." Brief of Appellant at p16. He disclaims the impact of his behavior on his victim, stating that it is "unreasonable to make me responsible for her irrational emotional state," Id. at p22. He goes on to make himself out to be the aggrieved party, stating, "I should be released from the constraints of the OP because I have done everything the court has ordered me to do even though, I believe, I have done nothing wrong. I have done

nothing to hurt anyone." PRP at p3. The perpetrator's belief that he has a right to engage in the behavior at issue certainly provides a tenable reason for the court to believe he may resume this behavior if the order is lifted, which is all that is required for renewal.

D. REMAINING ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR (#1, 2, 3, AND 4) ARE NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT

Washington State Rule of Appellate Procedure ("RAP") 2.4 limits the scope of review on appeal to the trial court decision designated in the notice of appeal except in narrow circumstances. Phillips sought appeal of the order issued in Thurston County Superior Court Case #12-2-30114-7, which denied his motion for revision and affirmed the long-term renewal of Rietema's DVPO. In his opening brief, Phillips attempts to seek relief regarding the criminal case against him for violating the underlying order. The alleged errors include entering his guilty plea, conducting an unlawful search, and mistreating him in jail. Each of these issues exceeds the scope of review of the case currently before this court. To the extent they also appear in the consolidated PRP, they do not impact the DVPO and therefore Rietema declines to brief these issues.

Appellant additionally assigns error to Commissioner Lack's initial order under the present cause number, of which he sought revision before Judge Wickham, whose resulting ruling is being appealed. "Once the superior court makes a decision on revision, the appeal is from the superior court's decision, not the commissioner's." <u>State v. Ramer</u>, 151 Wn.2d 106, 113, 86 P.3d 132 (2004), citing <u>State v. Hoffman</u>, 115 Wn. App. 91, 101, 60 P.3d 1261 (2003). Therefore, this assignment of error must also be disregarded.

II. PERSONAL RESTRAINT PETITION

A. A PERSONAL RESTRAINT PETITION IS NOT AN APPROPRIATE COLLATERAL ATTACK ON A CIVIL PROTECTION ORDER

Relief by means of a personal restraint petition will only be

granted "if other remedies which may be available to petitioner are

inadequate under the circumstances." RAP 16.4(d).

This simply reflects the personal restraint petition's status as an extraordinary remedy, and means that if a remedy at law --such as a timely appeal of a judgment--is available, a personal restraint petition cannot be employed. <u>Washington</u> <u>Appellate Practice Deskbook (3d ed.)</u>, Washington State Bar Association (2005).

Phillips' provides no argument as to why his direct appeal, seeking

the same relief from the DVPO as he seeks in the PRP, is an

inadequate remedy under the circumstances. Absent any factual or legal grounds to invoke the extraordinary remedy of the PRP, the petition should be dismissed to the extent it concerns the provisions of Rietema's DVPO.

B. IF CONSIDERED, THE STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR THE PERSONAL RESTRAINT PETITION IS VIOLATION OF LAW OR CONSTITUTION

If this court is inclined to reach the merits of Phillips' PRP as it pertains to the DVPO, his claim still fails to warrant relief. Phillips asserts he is under a "restraint" because he has "limited freedom because of a court decision," RAP 16.4(b). Although he does not specifically define the restraint, it can be gleaned from his testimony and argument in the lower courts and his asserted grounds for relief on appeal that the restraints are twofold: physical restraints, in that he is prohibited from being in proximity of Rietema, her residence and workplace, and the children's schools, and restraints on speech, in that he is prohibited from contacting Rietema or otherwise engaging with her in any manner proscribed by the DVPO, including indirect contact such as the flyers at issue.

To seek relief from either of these restraints, RAP 16.7(2)(ii) requires that the PRP state "why the petitioner's restraint is

unlawful for one or more of the reasons specified in rule 16.4(c)." Two of the three subsections Phillips cites are inapplicable to the discussion of the DVPO: RAP16.4(c)(1) addresses an order having been entered without proper jurisdiction, which Phillips does not and cannot reasonably allege, and RAP 16.4(c)(2) is limited to proceedings "instituted by the state or local government," which does not apply to the petition for renewal of the DVPO initiated by Rietema herself.

The remaining provision citied by Phillips, RAP 16.4(c)(6), that "conditions or manner of the restraint of petitioner are in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution or laws of the State of Washington," has a high threshold showing:

[T]he appellate court will reach the merits of a constitutional issue when the petitioner demonstrates that the alleged error gives rise to actual prejudice, and will reach the merits of a nonconstitutional issue when the claimed error constitutes a fundamental defect which inherently results in a complete miscarriage of justice." In re Pers. Restraint of Cook, 114 Wn.2d 802, 813, 792 P.2d 506 (1990).

The petition must cite "the facts upon which the claim of unlawful restraint of petitioner is based and the evidence available to support the factual allegations," RAP 16.7(2)(i), and must not rely on "bald assertions and conclusory allegations." <u>In re Pers. Restraint of</u> Rice, 118 Wn.2d 876, 886, 828 P.2d 1086, cert denied, 506 U.S.

958 (1992). "[N]aked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion." In re <u>Pers. Restraint of Williams</u>, 111 Wn.2d 353, 364-5, 759 P.2d 436 (1988) (internal citations omitted). Phillips makes sweeping declarations of assaults on his liberty but provides no legal support on which the relief he seeks could reasonably be based.

C. NEITHER THE DOMESTIC VIOLENCE PROTECTION ACT NOR THE RESULTING PROTECTION ORDER IN THIS CASE IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE

Phillips asserts that the DVPO is a "vague document that has been used against me in an arbitrary and capricious manner." PRP at p8. The occasions Phillips references are his violation of the DVPO for posting flyers at Rietema's workplace in June 2012 and the search of his home in December 2012. As Rietema lacks both standing and interest in defending the government's actions in a search that is unconnected with the reissuance of her DVPO, only the first claim will be addressed here.

The DVPO in this case was issued on the state's mandatory form, which is intentional:

USE OF MANDATORY FORMS ENSURES THAT THE ORDERS WILL BE ENFORCEABLE. All courts should use the approved Washington state forms as those forms have been drafted to meet all state and federal requirements regarding domestic violence cases. The Order for Protection, WPF DV 3.015, is a mandatory form. Law enforcement officers, judicial and criminal information gathering agencies, and other courts are familiar with and rely upon those forms. <u>DV Manual for Judges</u> at 8-3.

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